FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/2/2020 3:11 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/6/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 77948-6-I

No. 98	3U 4 J-4		

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

OSCAR MENDOZA, individually and as class representative,

Respondent-Plaintiff,

v.

FRED MEYER STORES, INC.,

Petitioner-Defendant,

and

EXPERT JANITORIAL, LLC, Defendant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Susan K. Stahlfeld, WSB No. 22003 Tara M. O'Hanlon, WSB No. 45517 Kellen A. Hade, WSB No. 44535 MILLER NASH GRAHAM & DUNN LLP 2801 Alaskan Way, Suite 300 Seattle, Washington 98121 206.624.8300

Attorneys for Petitioner Fred Meyer Stores, Inc.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND SUMMARY OF PETITION

Petitioner Fred Meyer Stores, Inc. ("Fred Meyer") asks this Court to review a decision from the Court of Appeals: (1) declining to consider whether employees may resolve potential wage claims in private settlements without preapproval by either a court or government agency, and (2) reversing the trial court's order granting Fred Meyer summary judgment based on collateral estoppel's virtual representation doctrine. These are issues of substantial public importance that the Court should review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Washington "law favors the private settlement of disputes and gives releases great weight in order to support the finality of such settlements." After nearly six dozen putative members in a class asserting wage violations against Fred Meyer individually settled their claims in exchange for immediate compensation, Fred Meyer moved for summary judgment, arguing that the written releases they signed precluded them from pursuing the litigation. The trial court denied a similar motion in a companion class action case on that basis, reading a 1918 case from this Court about a different and long repealed statute to hold that parties may never settle state wage and hour claims without first obtaining court or agency approval. This

_

¹ Bennett v. Shinoda Floral, Inc., 108 Wn.2d 386, 395, 739 P.2d 648 (1987).

is a novel holding in modern practice. Indeed, the trial court admitted its ruling in the companion case was "very different from what even [the judge] did as a practitioner" but felt compelled to invalidate the written releases even still.² The trial court here did not reach the issue and the Court of Appeals too declined to consider it, leaving it an open question without recent appellate authority.

The trial court instead granted Fred Meyer's summary judgment motion on an alternative basis: the class members were estopped under the virtual representation doctrine from raising an issue that the court had already decided in a companion case after a long bench trial. Both this and the companion case made the same class action claims and the same allegations. Both cases involved the same lawyers in front of the same judge. But the Court of Appeals reversed in an opinion that questioned whether the virtual representation doctrine—and thus whether collateral estoppel—may be applied to class actions at all.

This case allows the Court to consider two issues of broad public import that can affect any employee or putative class member in Washington. Review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is appropriate here.

² Clerk's Papers (CP) 1023.

_

II. <u>CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS</u>

Fred Meyer asks the Court to review the October 28, 2019 opinion of the Court of Appeals in *Mendoza v. Expert Janitorial Servs., LLC*, 450 P.3d 1220, 1222 (Wash. Ct. App. 2019), along with its December 3, 2019 order denying Fred Meyer's motion for reconsideration.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether an employer and employee may resolve potential state wage and hour claims in a private settlement for compensation *without* first obtaining court or government approval of the settlement terms.
- 2. Whether the virtual representation doctrine applies in class actions so that litigants may be collaterally estopped from relitigating issues in later actions.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is one of several cases in which janitors employed by a national janitorial company's subcontractor allege that Fred Meyer owes them back and overtime pay as a "joint employer" under the test this Court announced in *Becerra v. Expert Janitorial*, *LLC*, 181 Wn.2d 186, 332 P.3d 415 (2014).

A. RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN MENDOZA AND ESPINOZA.

This case, *Mendoza*, is intertwined with its companion case, *Espinoza v. MH Janitorial Servs. LLC*, COA No. 76752-6-I, 2019 WL 5697886 (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 4, 2019).

Espinoza is a class action asserting wage and hour violations on behalf of a class of janitors who cleaned Fred Meyer stores under a contract between their direct employers and Expert Janitorial Services, LLC ("Expert"). Expert was the contractor to which Fred Meyer outsourced its janitorial work during the relevant time periods. Together with claims against their direct employers, Espinoza asserted that Expert and Fred Meyer were liable as joint employers. Espinoza was filed in September 2014.

Mendoza is a class action filed by putative *Espinoza* class members who accepted Expert's individual settlement offers in 2015 (discussed below), which released claims against Fred Meyer. The class period is May 2012 through September 2014. *Mendoza* was filed in August 2016.

Both cases asserted that Expert and Fred Meyer were liable as joint employers. The same attorneys represent the janitors in both cases, and have done so the entire time. Both cases were set for bench trials before the Honorable Beth Andrus.

B. <u>MENDOZA</u> CLASS MEMBERS SETTLE CLAIMS AGAINST FRED MEYER.

Oscar Mendoza was a putative class member in *Espinoza*, until he released his claims. After an unsuccessful mediation in *Espinoza* in the fall of 2015, Expert sent putative *Espinoza* class members a cover letter and settlement agreement, written in both English and Spanish. CP 1200-1203.

The settlement offers were made in return for a release of claims that included the putative class members' claims against Fred Meyer.

These documents gave putative class members detailed information about *Espinoza*, including:

- The existence of *Espinoza* (including case name, jurisdiction, and cause number);
- The claims asserted in *Espinoza* (janitors cleaning Fred Meyer stores claiming unpaid wages, overtime, missed meal/rest breaks, improperly paid a salary, not always paid minimum wage, and asserting that Expert and Fred Meyer were joint employers and responsible to pay the janitors);
- The identity of the lead attorney for the class (who speaks Spanish);
- The Espinoza plaintiffs wanted to represent "other employees, including you, in the lawsuit so they could try to recover money for you;" and
- If the individual accepted the settlement offer, he or she "would give up the right to receive any payment that might otherwise be obtained for you in the lawsuit." [emphasis in original].

Id. (also attached to appendix). Mr. Mendoza and 68 other putative *Espinoza* class members accepted Expert's individual settlement offers, signing the agreements and releasing claims against Fred Meyer in exchange for a settlement payment.

The trial court did not include Mr. Mendoza or the other 68 *Mendoza* class members in *Espinoza* only because they had accepted Expert's settlement offer and no *Espinoza* class representative had also signed a release agreement. Had these janitors done nothing, they would have been

in the later-certified *Espinoza* class. Instead, these janitors accepted immediate payment in exchange for a release of Fred Meyer.

C. <u>MENDOZA</u> AWAITS THE TRIAL IN <u>ESPINOZA</u>.

Mr. Mendoza, through plaintiffs' counsel in *Espinoza*, sued Fred Meyer in August 2016 on behalf of all janitors who settled and thus were excluded from the *Espinoza* class. The *Mendoza* complaint is identical to the Espinoza complaint, except for allegations about the settlement releases. From that point the *Mendoza* putative class took no action (no motion for class certification, no discovery, and so on.) until months after the *Espinoza* trial was complete. As the trial court noted: "It is clear that counsel chose to await the outcome of *Espinoza* before proceeding in . . . Mendoza." CP 2409.

Espinoza was tried for seven weeks in January and February 2017. The trial court applied the multi-factor *Becerra* test to determine whether either Expert or Fred Meyer were the janitor's joint employers. The trial court ultimately issued 67 pages of findings and conclusions that found Fred Meyer was not a joint employer, among other things. CP 1232-1298.

D. TRIAL COURT DISMISSES MENDOZA BASED ON COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL AND DOES NOT REACH EFFECTIVENESS OF SETTLEMENT RELEASES.

After the trial in *Espinoza*, plaintiffs' counsel stipulated that the settlement agreements they signed were the only reason putative *Mendoza*

class members were excluded from *Espinoza* and that the evidentiary record admitted in *Espinoza* trial would be offered in *Mendoza*. The trial court certified the *Mendoza* class in July 2017.

Later Fred Meyer moved for summary judgment on many alternative grounds, two of which are relevant here. First, Fred Meyer argued that collateral estoppel applied to the trial court's finding that Fred Meyer was not a joint employer based on the doctrine of virtual representation. Virtual representation "allows collateral estoppel to be used against a nonparty when the former adjudication involved a party with substantial identity of interests with the nonparty." *Garcia v. Wilson*, 63 Wn. App. 516, 520, 820 P.2d 964 (1991). Second, Fred Meyer argued that *Mendoza* class members released their claims in writing in exchange for immediate compensation.

The trial court (the same court that had tried *Espinoza*) heard oral argument and issued its order granting summary judgment in Fred Meyer's favor. The trial court held that virtual representation doctrine precluded *Mendoza* class members from arguing that Fred Meyer was their joint employer. It did not reach the alternative grounds asserted by Fred Meyer, including the enforceability of the settlement releases.

But in *Espinoza*, the same trial court had before considered whether parties can privately settle wage claims. Relying on *Larsen v. Rice*, 100

Wn. 642, 171 P. 1037 (1918) and RCW 49.46.090(1),³ the trial court held that this Court's precedent requires employers to submit privately negotiated settlements for approval:

I completely understand that *Larsen* is a very old case from 1918, but it is, from this Court's determination, valid law, and I cannot—despite the fact that it is very different from what even I did as a practitioner, it is the law . . . of the state, and I can't find a way to overlook this precedent.

CP 1023. Neither *Larsen* nor any statute or administrative rule explains how an employer would obtain approval from a court or agency.

E. COURT OF APPEALS REVERSES, QUESTIONING APPLICABILITY OF VIRTUAL REPRESENTATION DOCTRINE IN CLASS ACTIONS AND REFUSING TO CONSIDER EFFECTIVENESS OF SETTLEMENT RELEASES.

The *Mendoza* class members appealed. After the parties fully briefed both issues—virtual representation and settlement—the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court and remanded for another trial on Fred Meyer's joint employer status. It held that virtual representation did not apply here because *Mendoza* class members had tried to join the *Espinoza* class but were excluded by the individual settlement agreements. Finding

action."

- 8 -

³ "Any employer who pays any employee less than the amounts to which such employee is entitled under or by virtue of this chapter, shall be liable to such employee affected for the full amount due to such employee under this chapter, less any amount actually paid to such employee by the employer, and for costs and such reasonable attorney's fees as may be allowed by the court. Any agreement between such employee and the employer allowing the employee to receive less than what is due under this chapter shall be no defense to such

no relevant state appellate guidance on the applicability of the virtual representation doctrine to class actions, the Court of Appeals turned to *Smith v. Bayer Corp.*, 564 U.S. 299, 131 S. Ct. 2368, 180 L. Ed.2d 341 (2011), to question whether virtual representation can apply to class actions:

Although the *Espinoza* janitors were granted class certification, *Bayer Corp*. supports the *Mendoza* janitors' contention that determinations made in a class action lawsuit cannot bind those who were, by court order, denied membership in the class. Here, as in *Bayer Corp*., we decline to stretch the definition of party so far as to cover the Mendoza janitors who were explicitly excluded from the *Espinoza* class by court order.

Opinion at 8.

The Court of Appeals did not rule on the effectiveness of the settlement releases; instead, it declined to consider the issue in a footnote. Opinion at 18. Fred Meyer moved the Court of Appeals to reconsider that decision and address Fred Meyer's argument that *Mendoza* class members released their claims, since the record is complete and the issue was fully briefed both at the trial court and on appeal. A majority of the panel declined.

V. ARGUMENT

A. REVIEW IS NEEDED UNDER RAP 13.4(B)(4) BECAUSE THESE QUESTIONS AFFECT THOUSANDS OF PEOPLE IN WASHINGTON.

Review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is appropriate for critical issues that have a statewide impact. For example, this Court noted that the "prime

example of an issue of substantial public interest" was an appellate decision that had "the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County." *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (emphasis added). This Court has also reviewed cases involving such substantial public issues as sex offender registration, termination of parental rights and statutory child support obligations. *See Matter of Arnold*, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091 (2017); *In Re Adoption of T.A.W.*, 184 Wn.2d 1040, 387 P.3d 636 (2016); *In re Marriage of Ortiz*, 108 Wn.2d 643, 646, 740 P.2d 843 (1987). This Court's decisions in all of those cases necessarily has wide-reaching effects and is important to more than just the parties involved. As discussed below, the same is true here.

B. THE COURT SHOULD CONFIRM IF PRIVATE WAGE CLAIM SETTLEMENTS MUST BE APPROVED FIRST, AND IF SO, EXPLAIN HOW TO DO SO.

This Court should accept review to address an issue that no state appellate court has since *Larsen* over a century ago: whether employers and individual employees may resolve wage and hour claims by private settlements without first obtaining court or government approval. This is an issue of substantial public importance calling for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), since it affects all employees who may have claims for wage violations under Washington law, along with the agencies and courts

that may need to approve settlements. Fred Meyer and others have sought guidance on this issue since at least 2016 to no avail.⁴

Washington law encourages private settlements. See, e.g., *Chadwick v. Northwest Airlines, Inc.*, 33 Wn. App. 297, 300 (1982), *aff'd*, 100 Wn.2d 221 (1983). Settlements have many benefits: they compensate for injuries, they reduce delay, they mitigate litigation risks, and they unclog busy dockets. For those reasons, courts view a settlement that includes a knowing release of past claims with finality. *Stottlemyre v. Reed*, 35 Wn. App. 169, 173, 665 P.2d 1383 (1983).

Parties may settle any claim, even those arising from statutes that further important public policies. *Chadwick*, 33 Wn. App. at 300-04 (upholding private settlement of discrimination claim). Wage claims should be no different. In fact, parties routinely settle such claims through private agreements without incident and without court approval. For example, in *Pugh v. Evergreen Hosp. Med. Ctr.*, employees claimed they were owed compensation for missed rest breaks. Although the employer disputed liability, it paid the employees to settle those past claims. *Id.*, 177 Wn. App.

-

⁴ On top of Fred Meyer's briefing at the trial court and Court of Appeals—both of which declined to reach the issue—Expert moved for discretionary review of the trial court's order in *Espinoza* holding that wage claim settlements are unenforceable unless approved. Fred Meyer joined that motion, and the trial court certified the issue for immediate appellate review. But the Court of Appeals denied review. *Espinoza v. Fred Meyer Stores, Inc.*, COA Case No. 74956-1-I (commissioner's ruling attached as an appendix).

at 352-54. The Court of Appeals later rejected the employees' argument that under RCW 49.52.050 (the Industrial Welfare Act), those settlements were agreements to "pay [an] employee a lower wage than the wage such employer is [statutorily] obligated to pay" and thus unlawful. *Id.* at 359. It held that individual employees—not the courts or government—"were best situated to determine whether the settlement was a fair compromise" of their claims. *Id.* at 361. Employees better understand the balance between their injuries and the risks of continued delay and litigation, and so accepting less in compromise early than their claim might be worth later does not void the agreement.

Even still, the trial court in *Espinoza* declined to enforce private settlement agreements without court or government approval, citing *Larsen*. Fred Meyer raises the same issue here that the Court of Appeals refused to consider. *Larsen* interpreted a 1913 statute that established a commission tasked with setting a minimum wage for women in varying occupations. *Larsen*, 100 Wash. at 642-44 (citing Laws of 1913, Ch. 174). There an employee alleged that her employer paid her less than the required minimum wage, and the employer offered the employee a settlement that included two components: a retrospective payment for back wages and a prospective agreement that the employee would continue to work for the employer for six more months. *Id.* at 647-48. *Larsen* determined that this

particular contract implicated the public interest and was "voidable, if not void" unless the state approved it. *Id.* at 648.

Larsen is an anachronism. The statute it interpreted predated the Minimum Wage Act by decades, and no reported Washington appellate case has cited it for the proposition that an employer and employee cannot settle disputed wage claims absent government intervention.⁵ In fact, no reported appellate case has cited Larsen since 1936. If it is relevant today at all, Larsen is best understood as prohibiting parties from contracting around statutory minimum wage requirements. The court called out the "executory" nature of the settlement—which required the employee to accept future employment—as denying the employee "the wage to which she [was] justly entitled." *Id.* at 650. That is because the employer was not offering unconditional, immediate compensation to settle a past claim; the employee was, in essence, working off most of the settlement payment by staying employed another six months later. And the long-repealed statute Larsen interpreted contemplated involvement of a government commission on wages. No such language exists in the current Minimum Wage Act.

⁵ Just one unpublished case from Division II, itself two decades old, mentions *Larsen*'s purported rule in *dicta*. *See Harrison v. Chapman Mech., Inc.*, 92 Wn. App. 1034 (1998) ("[W]e see no reason why the worker/claimant and the employer cannot settle a prevailing wage dispute if the State approves.") (citing *Larsen*).

Larsen's apparent resurrection is neither clear nor consistent. As the trial court admitted, requiring approval of private wage claim settlements differed from her practice as a lawyer. It differs from the collective five decades' of experience of Fred Meyer's lawyers here, and even plaintiffs' counsel remarked that "he'd been doing this for years" and only recently "found the Larsen" case. CP 1014. Trial judges are unsure whether Larsen requires court or agency settlement approval. See, e.g., Toering v. Ean Holdings LLC, No. C15-2016 JCC, 2016 WL 4765850, at *2 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 13, 2016) ("[A]lthough the Court makes no ruling on the releases now, it is possible they are void or voidable under Larsen v. Rice[.]" (emphasis added)). This issue cries out for guidance from this Court, which is that best suited to clarify—or if needed overturn—its own precedent.

Even if *Larsen* means that courts or agencies must approve private wage claim settlements, review is still needed to explain *how* parties seek approval. Unlike other state and federal laws, there is no explicit judicial, statutory or administrative mechanism to facilitate approval of wage claim settlements.⁶ Must litigants file a declaratory judgment action in superior

_

⁶ For example, Washington's Industrial Insurance Act has language that requires the Department of Labor & Industries to approve settlements of worker's compensation claims. *See* RCW 51.24.090(1) ("Any compromise or settlement of the third party cause of action by the injured worker or beneficiary which results in less than the entitlement under this title is void unless made with the written approval of the department or self-insurer."). Likewise the federal Fair Labor Standards Act has language that requires the Department of Labor or the courts to approve wage claim settlements. *See* 29 U.S.C. § 216(c) ("The Secretary is authorized to supervise the payment of the unpaid minimum

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