FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/4/2020 2:17 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 98045-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

OSCAR MENDOZA, individually and as Class Representative,

Respondent-Plaintiff,

v.

FRED MEYER STORES, INC.,

Petitioner-Defendant.

Court of Appeals No. 77948-6-1

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

David N. Mark, WSBA #13908 Beau C. Haynes #44240 William J. Rutzick, Of Counsel Washington Wage Claim Project 810 Third Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 340-1840 Counsel for Respondent-Plaintiff

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

<u>Harrison</u>, 92 Wn. App. at 1034. That language was not dicta since that portion of the opinion rejected a party's argument regarding public policy, and the Court remanded for proceedings "consistent with this opinion." Furthermore, <u>Harrison</u> citing <u>Larsen</u> in holding that the "State's participation protects the public interest" supports Plaintiff's understanding of <u>Larsen</u>.

4. FLSA law largely aligns with <u>Larsen</u> although the FLSA did not explicitly provide a statutory prohibition.

In the 1940s the United States Supreme Court decided two cases that aligned the FLSA with <u>Larsen</u>, preventing extrajudicial releases of FLSA rights. <u>Brooklyn Savings Bank v. O'Neil</u>, 324 U.S. 697 (1945), held that an employee could not waive his right to recover FLSA

¹⁵ Harrison v. Chapman Mech., Inc., 92 Wn. App. 1034, -- P.2d -- (1998).

liquidated damages. The employer in that case sent a former employee a check for unpaid overtime in exchange for a release, which the former employee signed and returned. The Court noted authority that a "statutory right conferred on a private party, but affecting the public interest, may not be waived or released if such waiver or release contravenes the statutory policy." 324 U.S. at 704. Because the FLSA lacked statutory language on the issue, the Court looked at the law's purposes, stating:

The statute was a recognition of the fact that, due to unequal bargaining power as between employer and employee, certain segments of the population required federal compulsory legislation to prevent private contracts on their part which endangered national health and efficiency ... No one can doubt but that to allow waiver of statutory wages by agreement would nullify the purposes of the Act. We are of the opinion that the same policy considerations which forbid waiver of basic minimum wage and overtime wages under the Act also prohibit waiver of the employee's right to liquidated damages.

324 U.S. at 706-07 (emphasis added).

Brooklyn Savings did not rule on whether the outcome would be different if there were a "bona fide dispute" over the workers' claims. 324 U.S. at 714. That question was answered in the negative in <u>D.A. Schulte, Inc. v. Gangi</u>, 328 U.S. 108 (1946) ("<u>Schulte</u>"). <u>Schulte</u> held that the FLSA would not give effect to an extrajudicial settlement even though it involved settlement of a <u>bona fide</u> dispute over whether the FLSA applied to the employees. When some employees then sued for

FLSA liquidated damages, the putative employer made essentially the same arguments made by Defendant herein. Id. at 113.

Despite bona fide disputes over coverage, Schulte held:

[T]he same policy which forbids employee waiver of the minimum statutory rate because of inequality of bargaining power prohibits these same employees from bargaining with their employer in determining whether so little damage was suffered that waiver of liquidated damages is called for.

In a bona fide adjustment on coverage, there are the same threats to the public purposes of the Wage-Hour Act that exist when the liquidated damages are waived....

<u>Id.</u> at 115-16 (emphasis added). A dispute over FLSA "coverage" is similar to a joint employer dispute – it is a complex legal issue independent of wages paid. The <u>worst</u> situation for public policy is when employers and individual employees negotiate – rather than an employee representative such as a lawyer or union. The releases at issue herein involve such a situation. <u>Brooklyn Savings</u> and <u>Schulte</u> were decided based on the FLSA of 1938, which was largely the basis for the MWA. <u>See Anfinson v. FedEx</u>, 174 Wn.2d 851, 868, 281 P.2d 289 (2012). These cases augment <u>Larsen v. Rice</u> and are consistent with Washington's long and proud history in being a pioneer in protecting workers. ¹⁶

¹⁶ Shortly after <u>Brooklyn Savings</u> and <u>Schulte</u>, Congress amended the FLSA to provide another avenue for obtaining enforceable FLSA release agreements. In 1949, §16(c) of the FLSA was added, providing that a USDoL-supervised settlement may provide for release of FLSA claims. 61 Stat. 910, 919 (1949) (codified at 29 U.S.C.§ 216(c). Ironically, Defendant had the opportunity to resolve the janitors' claims for

²⁰¹² and 2013 as part of an FLSA-supervised settlement. CP 192-193; CP 1167 (¶¶2-9); CP 1847-52. Defendant chose not to avail itself of this long-established method for release of FLSA rights. Instead, as in December 2011, it opted for extrajudicial releases obtained from impecunious, uneducated and unrepresented janitors. A

During the past 70 years, courts have applied <u>Brooklyn Savings</u> and <u>Schulte</u> to prohibit employer-employee agreements to release FLSA claims. A leading decision is <u>Lynn's Food Stores</u>, <u>Inc. v. United States</u>, 679 F.2d 1350, 1352-53 (11th Cir. 1982). Therein, an employer negotiated releases with employees, after unsuccessfully attempting to resolve claims with the Department of Labor. The Eleventh Circuit held the releases were unenforceable, relying on the policy considerations expressed in <u>Brooklyn Savings</u> and <u>Schulte</u>:

Recognizing that there are often great inequalities in bargaining power between employers and employees, Congress made the FLSA's provisions mandatory; thus, the provisions are not subject to negotiation or bargaining between employers and employees.

<u>Lynn's Food</u>, 679 F.2d at 1352. Under <u>Lynn's Food</u>, an FLSA settlement is enforceable only if it is approved by a court "after scrutinizing the settlement for fairness," or the Department of Labor certifies that a supervised settlement is for full wages. <u>Id</u>. at 1353.¹⁷

USDoL-approved FLSA settlement would have removed any incentive for the present litigation, even though it would not have formally released MWA claims.

Recent FLSA cases follow Brooklyn Savings, Schulte and Lynn's Food. In Nall v. Mal-Motels, Inc., 723 F.3d 1304, 1306-08 (11th Cir. 2013), the court refused to enforce a release negotiated between an employer and unrepresented former employee after an FLSA suit had been filed. In Cheeks v. Freeport Pancake House, Inc., 796 F.3d 199, (2d Cir. 2015), the court held that an FLSA release would not be binding unless the trial court scrutinized the terms of the settlement for fairness. The settlement had to be filed in open court and found to be "fair and reasonable" for the FLSA claims to be waived. Cheeks held that FLSA protections were necessary even when employees were represented by counsel. Accord Walton v. United Consumers Club, Inc., 786 F.2d 303, 306 (7th Cir. 1986) (same); Seminiano v. Xyris Entrp., 602 Fed.Appx. 682, 683 (9th Cir. 2007) (unpublished; same).

5. Laws from other states also support Plaintiff's position.

Other State minimum wage laws have also been held to prohibit private settlements, relying on FLSA authority. E.g., O'Brien v. Encotech Const. Servs., Inc., 183 F. Supp. 2d 1047, 1049 (N.D. Ill. 2002) (FLSA and Illinois law)¹⁸; Ladegaard v. Hard Rock Concrete Cutters, Inc., 00 C 5755, 2001 WL 1403007, at *1 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 9, 2001); Lewis v. Giordano's Entpr., Inc., 397 Ill. App. 3d 581, 921 N.E.2d 740 (Ill. App. Ct. 2009)(releases in putative class actions); McKeown v. Kinney Shoes Corp., 820 P.2d 1068, 1080-71 (Alaska 1991) (class action).¹⁹

B. The COA correctly rejected the trial court's summary judgment analysis of virtual representation in this case on multiple grounds, including the single issue raised by Defendant.

The trial court granted Fred Meyer's Motion for Summary Judgment. The COA reversed the trial court's decision holding "both that the doctrine of virtual representation is not applicable to the Mendoza janitors and that applications of collateral estoppel herein works on injustice." Mendoza v. Expert Janitorial Services, LLC, 450 P.3d 1220, 1222 (2019) (emphasis added). The COA made it clear that

¹⁸ "Permitting an employer to violate a minimum wage law and escape legal consequences by paying an employee something to forget about the violation, undermines the proper functioning of these laws almost as effectively as simply failing to follow them in the first instance." 183 F.Supp.2d at 1049.

¹⁹ Defendant also never addresses the fact that the trial court and the COA in <u>Mendoza explicitly did not address this issue</u>. It seems problematic for this Court to address an issue never addressed by any lower court in this case.

it would have reversed the trial court <u>even assuming</u> that virtual representation "could be applicable to those in the situation of the <u>Mendoza</u> janitors.²⁰ Defendant's Petition at p. 3 seeks review on the issue of "[w]hether the virtual representation doctrine applies in class actions" Review should not be granted on that issue for two separate reasons: (a) the COA's reversal would stand even if Defendant prevailed on the class action virtual representation issue, and (b) the COA's analysis regarding the inapplicability of virtual representation in this class action context was correct.

1. The COA's decision reversing summary judgment would be unaffected by this Court's resolution of the challenged issue because the COA's remaining bases for reversal would continue to apply.

Defendant never sought review of the COA's holding that under the facts presented herein, summary judgment was improperly granted even assuming virtual representation could have been "applicable to the Mendoza janitors." The COA explained that the criteria established in Garcia v. Wilson, 63 Wn.App. 516, 820 P.2d 964 (1991) for applying

Mendoza, 450 P.3d at 1225 (emphasis added).

The Mendoza janitors next assert that, even were we to determine that the doctrine of virtual representation could be applicable to those in the situation of the Mendoza janitors, the record herein does not support the trial court's conclusion that the Mendoza janitors were virtually represented in Espinoza. This is so, the Mendoza janitors assert, because they did not participate in the Espinoza litigation, the evidence and testimony that will be presented in a trial on the Mendoza janitors' claims will not be identical to that presented in Espinoza, and the Mendoza janitors' separate lawsuit was not the product of their manipulation or tactical maneuvering. We agree.

the virtual representation doctrine had not been met. For example, the COA held that the:

[M]inimal participation by some of the Mendoza janitors, especially when the bulk of the participation was in support of Fred Meyer's side of the case, does not support application of the virtual representation doctrine to the Mendoza janitors as a class.

450 P.3d at 1228.

The COA also held that a separate reason the virtual representation doctrine was not established was that the evidence in Mendoza and Espinoza would not be identical. See id. at 1225, 1228-29. For example, as observed by the COA, the Espinoza and Mendoza janitors learned shortly after the Espinoza trial that:

Expert was financially unable to pay the wages owed. As a result of Expert's financial difficulties, it settled with the <u>Espinoza</u> and <u>Mendoza</u> janitors for 720,000 in a settlement approved by the trial court.

<u>Id.</u> at 1223. Economic dependence by employees on a putative joint employer is a touchstone of joint employment. <u>Becerra v. Expert Janitorial, LLC</u>, 176 Wn. App at 699, n. 1. <u>Becerra makes that new evidence relevant</u>. As quoted at p. 1228, <u>infra</u>, the COA held there was a reasonable connection between Expert's financial difficulties and the janitors' <u>economic dependence on Fred Meyer</u>. The COA at 1227-28 gave additional reasons why the Garcia factors were not met.

-

Evidence of Expert's financial difficulties could support an inference that the Mendoza janitors were economically dependent on Fred Meyer. ¹¹

²¹ The COA's unchallenged holding at p. 1228 was that:

A final reason for not accepting review on this issue is that it would not affect the result. That is because <u>assuming</u> that Defendant succeeded on its second "issue presented for review," the COA's decision <u>reversing</u> the trial court's grant of summary judgment would still stand. Defendant acknowledges that the cases it cited at p. 10 of its Petition as supporting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) were "important to <u>more</u> than <u>just the parties involved</u>." (Emphasis added.)²² Given the multiple <u>unchallenged</u> reasons relied upon by the COA for reversing the trial court, the current importance of this issue to Plaintiff is markedly diminished. For any or all of those reasons, this would not be a proper case to review the applicability of virtual representation in the class action context.

For example, because Expert indemnified Fred Meyer for lawsuits brought by janitors, Fred Meyer's legal expenses may have prevented Expert from being financially able to pay the janitors. If Fred Meyer had the power to direct Expert to use those funds to pay the Mendoza janitors rather than to litigate against the janitors, it could support an inference that the Mendoza janitors were economically dependent on Fred Meyer.

Fred Meyer asserts that evidence of Expert's insolvency or other financial difficulties subsequent to the class period is irrelevant to determining whether Fred Meyer was the Mendoza janitors' joint employer during the class period because there could be many reasons for Expert's financial difficulties. Fred Meyer points to the trial court's order to support its contention. Therein the trial court noted that there were other possible business reasons why Expert was insolvent other than because it paid to indemnify Fred Meyer against janitor lawsuits. However, just because an inference could be drawn that other business reasons might explain Expert's financial situation does not mean that an inference could not be drawn that Expert's expenses indemnifying Fred Meyer prevented Expert from paying the Mendoza janitors the wages owed. (Emphasis added.)

State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005); Matter of Arnold, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091 (2017); In Re Adoption of T.A.W., 184 Wn.2d 1040, 387 P.3d 636 (2016); and In re Marriage of Ortiz, 108 Wn.2d 643, 646, 740 P.2d 843 (1987).

2. The COA's reliance on **Smith v. Bayer Corp.** was correct.

The COA's analysis on the issue quoted below in footnote 23 relied on Smith v. Bayer Corp., 564 U.S. 299, 313-15 (2011), which specifically dealt with a claim of virtual representation in the Rule 23 class action context.²³ In so doing, the COA pointed out that "Fred Meyer does not provide any argument in its briefing pertaining to Bayer Corp.," and also explained why the trial court's attempted distinction of Bayer did not withstand analysis. <u>Id</u>. at n.3.²⁴

Only now does Defendant argue that <u>Bayer</u> is not applicable. However, its reasons misstate the record and misstate both the COA's decision and <u>Bayer</u>. Defendant's argument misstates both the record and the COA's decision since, as discussed above, the COA found that virtual representation did not apply under Washington law. The COA discussed a number of factors that did not apply, including that the evidence in the two trials would be different in relevant respects. Notably, Defendant's Petition does not challenge the holding that even apart from the class action issue, virtual representation does not apply under the present record. As such, Defendant's argument that it could

The COA, at 1225, stated:

Although the <u>Espinoza</u> janitors were granted class certification, <u>Bayer Corp.</u> supports the <u>Mendoza</u> janitors' contention that determinations made in a class action lawsuit cannot bind those who were, by court order, denied membership in the class. Here, as in <u>Bayer Corp.</u>, we decline to stretch the definition of party so far as to cover the <u>Mendoza</u> janitors who were explicitly excluded from the <u>Espinoza</u> class by court order.³ (Footnote omitted.)

Fred Meyer's Motion for Reconsideration also never addressed Bayer.

"end up having to defend itself in successive class action trials <u>on the same</u> ... <u>evidence</u>" is blatantly incorrect. The COA properly relied on <u>Bayer</u> rather than Defendant's current misinterpretation of this decision.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny review of the Court of Appeals' decision and of its denial of Defendant's motion to reconsider.